THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY

Roger E. Henderson, Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001442

Case No.

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

versus

Larry James Tyler,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas F. McDow
514 Oakland Avenue, Second Floor
Post Office Box 891
Rock Hill SC 29731-6891
Telephone 803-327-4200
Email thomasmcdow@mcdowlaw.com
South Carolina Bar # 03791

Robert M. Dudek
David Alexander
Commission on Indigent Defense,
Appellate Division
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia SC 29211
rdudek@sccid.sc.gov
dalexander@sccid.sc.gov
Telephone 803-734-1330

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I The Sexually Violent Predator Act, S. C. Code Ann. § 44-48-10, et seq. provides examiners “reasonable access to the person.” S. C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(C) Does reasonable access to the person require submission to a penile plethysmograph?
- II Procedural due process requires: “(1) adequate notice; (2) adequate opportunity for a hearing; (3) the right to introduce evidence; and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses.” The State and the trial court failed to provide procedural due process in finding contempt initiated by a return to motion, in failing to apply the correct burden of proof, and refusing to recognize Tyler’s right to revoke his consent to the penile plethysmograph?
- III The United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution protect citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures and self-incrimination and require due process of law. The South Carolina Constitution goes further protecting against “unreasonable invasions of privacy.”
- IV The penile plethysmograph has correctly been found by other courts as inherently unreliable with a high rate of false positive and false negatives.
- V An evaluation by the trial court’s appointed expert must be completed within 60 days of the probable cause hearing. Tyler’s probable cause hearing was October 26, 2015. On May 16, 2016, Dr. Gehle issued her report. Is Tyler entitled to dismissal for The State’s failure to prosecute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Procedural Time Line:

August 27, 2015. Sexual Predator Referral Form completed by the Multidisciplinary Team found by a vote of 4-1: “The offender satisfies the definition of a sexually violent predatory and a review by the Prosecutor Review Committee is warranted.”²

August 31, 2015. Prosecutors Review Committee received materials from Multidisciplinary Team.

September 24, 2015. Prosecutors Review Committee found probable cause to believe appellant has been convicted of a sexually violent offense and suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder making it likely he will engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined for long-term control, care, and treatment.³

October 15, 2015. Petition Pursuant to Sexually Violent Predator Act filed with the clerk of court for Darlington County.⁴

October 16, 2015. Probable Cause Order signed by Judge Paul M. Burch.

October 26, 2015. Probable Cause hearing before Judge Burch.⁵

October 26, 2015. Order for Evaluation Pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act signed by Judge Burch.⁶

November 23, 2015. Order signed by Judge Burch. This Order permits examination of material in possession of The State to be examined by Dr. Gehle or appellant’s lawyer.⁷

²Record, page 28, Sexual Predator Referral Form.

³Record, page 30, Prosecutor’s Review Committee Probable Cause Determination dated September 24, 2015.

⁴Record, page 20, Petition Pursuant to Sexually Violent Predator Act, dated October 12, 2015.

⁵Record, page 267, Transcript of record dated October 26, 2015

⁶Record, page 3, Probable Cause Order dated October 16, 2015.

⁷Record, page 7, Order dated November 23, 2015.

January 12, 2016. Tyler's counsel move for dismissal upon the ground The State had not met the statutory time lines.⁸

May 16, 2016. Dr. Gehle issued her report concluding Tyler did not meet the criteria to be considered a sexually violent predator. There is nothing to suggest Tyler did not cooperate with her evaluation.⁹ Dr. Gehle did not request or require a PPG as part of her pre-commitment evaluation.¹⁰

Before July 7, 2016. The State "requested a **consultation evaluation**" of Tyler by the Medical University of South Carolina's Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab.¹¹ A copy of the request is not available.

July 7, 2016. Consultation Evaluation Examinee Consent signed by appellant who agreed to a **Consultation Evaluation**.¹² The consent unambiguously stated, "You may revoke your consent to one or more of these evaluation tests and/or assessments at any time prior to their completion by verbally vising the test or assessment administrator. Failure to complete a recommended test or assessment may prevent completion of part or the entire evaluation." Tyler declined the penile plethysmograph (PPG),¹³ as was his right.¹⁴

August 18, 2016. Return to Motion to Dismiss and for Trial; Motion to Compel Cooperation with Evaluation. Attachments include inadmissible authority from other cases in the court of common pleas.

September 8, 2016. Motion to Dismiss before Judge Roger E. Henderson.¹⁵

⁸Record, page 143, Motion to Dismiss filed January 12, 2016.

⁹Record, page 11, Order dated September 16, 2016, ¶ 4.

¹⁰Record, p. 169, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, last paragraph.

¹¹Record, page 227, Letter from Dr. Gottfried to James G. Bogle.

¹²Record, page 157, Consultation Evaluation Examinee Consent, last paragraph.

¹³Record, page 227, Letter from Emily D. Gottfried, to James G. Bogle.

¹⁴Record, page 157, Consultation Evaluation Examinee Consent, last paragraph.

¹⁵Record, page 276, Transcript dated September 8, 2016.

September 16, 2016. Order signed by Judge Henderson.¹⁶ This Order denies the Motion to Dismiss, holds the issue of contempt in abeyance to permit cooperation, finding appellant will be held in contempt and incarcerated if an affidavit is provided to the court, and tolls all time limits until appellant cooperates with the evaluation.

October 4, 2016. Affidavit of Emily D. Gottfried, Ph.D.¹⁷

October 31, 2016. Order signed by Judge. Henderson. This Order finds appellant in contempt, continues his detention in the Darlington County Detention Center, and tolls are statutory time limits until appellant cooperates with the evaluation.¹⁸

November 16, 2016. Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed.¹⁹

July 13, 2018. Hearing before Judge Henderson on the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.²⁰

July 16, 2018. Order signed by Judge Henderson. This Order denies the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.²¹

The appellant Tyler appeals from the Contempt Order dated October 31, 2016, and the Order denying reconsideration dated July 16, 2018, Notice of Appeal was filed and served August 1, 2108. This appeal is from an order holding Appellant Larry James Tyler in contempt of court for failing to submit to a PPG as part of an exam to determine whether Tyler suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence, if not confined to a secure facility for long-term control, care, and commitment.

¹⁶Record, page 11, Order dated September 16, 2016.

¹⁷Record, page 266, Affidavit of Emily D. Gottfried.

¹⁸Record, pages 15-16, Order dated October 31, 2016.

¹⁹Record, page 168, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed November 18, 2016.

²⁰Record, page 295, Transcript dated July 13, 2018.

²¹Record, page 14, Order dated July 17, 2018.

FACTS

There are few facts because there was no testimony, no exhibit, and no stipulations—only a petition, motions, arguments, and orders. Without conceding the correctness of the petition, motions, arguments, and orders, the trial judge proceeded on these representations and assumptions.

Larry James Tyler was born in 1953. (Ironically, his month and day of birth are redacted by The State to protect his privacy while it seeks PPG testing.)²² In 1993, he pled guilty in Texas to indecency with a child by contact. In 2013, he pled guilty to sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree, criminal solicitation of a minor, disseminating harmful material to a minor, and contributing to the delinquency of a minor. On the sentence sheets for each of the 2013 offences, the trial judge checked the box for “NON-VIOLENT.”²³

May 16, 2016. Dr. Gehle’s report concluded “that [Tyler] did not meet the criteria to be considered a sexually violent predator.” There is nothing to suggest Respondent did not cooperate with her evaluation.”²⁴

Tyler, had he consented, would have had his penis hooked to the machine for as long as three and a half hours with probes on his penis. The State would then subject him to watching pornographic images and hearing pornographic dialogue with his penile responses measured.²⁵

²²Record, pages 32, 35, 37, and 38, Sentence Sheets.

²³Record, pages 32, 35, 37, and 38, Sentence Sheets.

²⁴Record, page 12, ¶ 4, Order dated September 16, 2016.

²⁵Record, page 281, lines 15-19.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Questions of statutory construction are a matter of law.” *Boiter v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 393 S.C. 123, 132, 712 S.E.2d 401, 405 (2011). The Court reviews questions of law de novo. *Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 399 S.C. 23, 30, 731 S.E.2d 288, 291 (2012).²⁶

The appellate standard of review in Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases is limited to determining whether any evidence supports the trial court's finding. *State v. Brockman*, 339 S.C. 57, 528 S.E.2d 661 (2000); *State v. Jones*, 364 S.C. 51, 610 S.E.2d 846 (Ct.App.2005); *State v. Green*, 341 S.C. 214, 532 S.E.2d 896 (Ct.App.2000). The appellate court may only reverse where there is clear error. *Id.*; see also *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001) (holding in a criminal case the appellate court is bound by the trial court's preliminary factual findings in determining the admissibility of certain evidence unless the findings are clearly erroneous, and its review extends only to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion).

The “clear error” standard means that an appellate court will not reverse a trial court's finding of fact simply because it would have decided the case differently. *Easley v. Cromartie*, 532 U.S. 234, 121 S.Ct. 1452, 149 L.Ed.2d 430 (2001). Rather, the appellate court must ask whether, on the entire evidence, it is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. *Id.*

An appellate court must affirm the trial court's ruling if there is any evidence to support the ruling. *Brockman*, 339 S.C. at 66, 528 S.E.2d at 666. Accordingly, we will apply an “any evidence” standard to the circuit judge's ruling. See *State v. Williams*, 351 S.C. 591, 571 S.E.2d 703 (Ct.App.2002).²⁷

However, “Questions of statutory [or constitutional] construction are a matter of law.” *Boiter v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 393 S.C. 123, 132, 712 S.E.2d 401, 405 (2011). The Court

²⁶*Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 178, 796 S.E.2d 843, 846 (2017).

²⁷*State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 95–96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005)

reviews questions of law de novo. *Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 399 S.C. 23, 30, 731 S.E.2d 288, 291 (2012).²⁸

When the trial court does not follow the mandated procedures, the appellate court, rather than the “clear error” standard the appellate court must answer a question of law. South Carolina appellate courts have jurisdiction to correct errors of law.²⁹

²⁸*Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 178, 796 S.E.2d 843, 846 (2017).

²⁹*State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 313, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2006).

ARGUMENT

I

The Sexually Violent Predator Act³⁰ provides examiners “reasonable access to the person.”³¹ Does reasonable access to the person require submission to a penile plethysmograph?

The statute provides, “All examiners are permitted to have **reasonable access to the person** for the purpose of the examination, as well as access to all relevant medical, psychological, criminal offense, and disciplinary records and reports.” (Emphasis added). The question of first impression is the meaning of “reasonable access to the person?” Interpreting a similar statute, the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts observed, “The word ‘examination’ is not defined, although in prior cases we have suggested that the terms ‘examination’ and ‘interview’ in the context of [the statute] are essentially interchangeable.”³²

The Act does not require a PPG or submission to any particular test. The order appointing the examiner did not mention submitting to a PPG. No evidence was submitted by the State as to the necessity of the PPG. Dr. Gehle of the South Carolina Department of Mental Health completed her examination without a PPG. That the PPG is a standard part of the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab (SBCL) evaluation protocol does not make it reasonable to subject Tyler to this degrading process.

³⁰S. C. Code Ann. § 44-48-10, *et seq.*

³¹S. C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(C)

³²*Com. v. Felt*, 466 Mass. 316, 320, 994 N.E.2d 374, 378 (2013), citing *Commonwealth v. Connors*, 447 Mass. at 317 n. 7, 850 N.E.2d 1038, quoting *Commonwealth v. Poissant*, 443 Mass. 558, 559, n. 1, 823 N.E.2d 350

In the Middle Ages, when the judicial process failed to decide the guilt or innocence of person accused of a crime, he was subjected to a trial by fire³³ or trial by ordeal.³⁴ In the trial by fire, the accused was forced to snatch an object out of a fire or forced to walk over hot coals. If the person showed no sign of burns after a few days, he was innocent. The experts of the day claimed that God would intervene to save this person during the proceeding, if he were innocent. Some people can actually walk over hot coals without getting burned, but others cannot. No one today would think those that could were innocent or those that could not were guilty.

The PPG shares two similarities with trial by fire. Both are inhumane and both fail as a valid indicator of guilt. The PPG examination is not accepted as a predictor of recidivism. The PPG has a high likelihood of having a false positive. One court ruling on this testimony said:

Dr. Plaud agreed that false positives and false negatives are an issue with the PPG, and had previously written in an article that the PPG has a false positive error rate of about thirty-five percent. About one-third of sexual offenders show no arousal pattern in response to the exam, and “the vast majority of rapists” show no deviant arousal according to the exam.³⁵

With 35% false positives, would a reasonable person put his liberty at risk by taking such an exam? Perhaps this would be a risk worth taking and a humiliation worth enduring, if there were an upside. But the courts have consistently held that passing the PPG does not benefit the defendants. “While there may be some evidence supporting Kennedy's claim that he is not a sexually violent predator, including a normal PPG test

³³*Miller v. Warden, Maryland House of Correction*, 16 Md. App. 614, 631, 299 A.2d 862, 872 (1973), overruled by *Biddle v. State*, 40 Md. App. 399, 392 A.2d 100 (1978)

³⁴*State v. Morgan*, 137 S.W.3d 477, 482 (Mo. Ct. App.).

³⁵*Commonwealth v. Ortiz*, 93 Mass. App. Ct. 381, 384, 100 N.E.3d 790, 794 (2018)

result, there is more than enough evidence to support the decision reached by the trial court.³⁶ This is the judicial equivalent of “heads I win, tails you lose.”

Kennedy also negates The State's position that the PPG is necessary for Dr. Gottfried to include the PPG in her examination. Other experts, including Dr. Gehle in this case and Dr. Berg in *Matthews* managed well without the draconian measures of the PPG.

Dr. Elin Barth Berg testified on behalf of the State. Dr. Berg conducted a three hour interview with Matthews, and spent four hours reviewing the records supplied by the Attorney General. Dr. Berg testified Matthews suffers from pedophilia. She stated Matthews has a “probable risk of recidivism of sexually violent acts in the community,” and it was “more likely than not” that Matthews would re-offend.³⁷

Subjecting Tyler or anyone to pornographic materials is not only degrading, but also subjects him to materials that perhaps violate the law, if one possessed these materials in a different setting. By way of analogy, this is similar to making a determination that a recovering alcoholic is likely to relapse because when given a drink, he desires another. Yet many recovering alcoholics stay sober, not because they can taste a drink and not want another, but because they know to stay away from alcohol.

One could substitute PPG for “lie detection” or “polygraph” in these examples.

- “Lie detection through physical change is actually a throwback to early forms of trial by ordeal. There are reports of a deception test used by Indians based on the observation that fear may inhibit the secretion of saliva. To test credibility, an accused was given rice to chew. If he could spit it out he was considered innocent, but if it stuck to his gums he was judged guilty.”³⁸
- “Indeed, the potential for misleading juries is so great that it could be strongly argued that the admission of polygraph results in criminal trials is tantamount to substituting a new form of trial by ordeal i. e., trial by polygraph for the constitutionally mandated trial by jury. A defendant's ability to pass a polygraph test would, in a very real sense, predetermine the eventual conclusion of guilt or

³⁶*In re Care & Treatment of Kennedy*, 353 S.C. 394, 398, 578 S.E.2d 27, 28 (Ct. App. 2003)

³⁷*In re Matthews*, 345 S.C. 638, 647, 550 S.E.2d 311, 315 (2001)

³⁸*People v. Wilson*, 78 Misc. 2d 468, 474, 354 N.Y.S.2d 296, 304 (Co. Ct. 1974)

innocence by the jury. For this reason, it is doubly important that polygraph results remain inadmissible unless sufficient empirical evidence is developed that juries can adequately deal with them.”³⁹

When the legislature passed the Sexually Violent Predator Act it provided all examiners reasonable access to the person for examination, and access to all relevant medical, psychological, criminal offense, and disciplinary records and reports.⁴⁰ This is not unfettered access. It is reasonable access. There is no indication this includes having Tyler's penis connected to a machine for three and one-half hours while subjecting him to pornography and other sexual materials. Tyler provided reasonable access for the examiner. The trial court erred in holding him in contempt.

Other remedies and procedures are available to The State. As Massachusetts determined,

However, we conclude that to permit the defendant to offer his own expert testimony, based on personal interviews, while refusing to submit to interviews with court-appointed experts, would offend basic notions of fairness in such proceedings.⁴¹

[W]here a defendant refuses to be interviewed, the qualified examiners' reports may be completed without the benefit of personal interviews. However, in such a case, the defendant has elected to limit the extent to which his or her current mental state may be examined.⁴²

“Contrary to the Commonwealth's contention, a defendant's refusal to be interviewed personally as part of a [statutory] examination does result in a penalty—namely, that a defendant may not introduce expert testimony based on a personal interview.”⁴³

³⁹*McLemore v. State*, 87 Wis. 2d 739, 751, 275 N.W.2d 692, 698 (1979)

⁴⁰S. C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(C).

⁴¹*Com. v. Connors*, 447 Mass. 313, 317, 850 N.E.2d 1038, 1042 (2006)

⁴²*Com. v. Felt*, 466 Mass. 316, 322, 994 N.E.2d 374, 379 (2013)

⁴³*Com. v. Felt*, 466 Mass. 316, 324, 994 N.E.2d 374, 381 (2013)

Unlike *Connors* and *Felt*, Tyler consented to the examination, he only refused, and reasonably so, the PPG.

The use of a PPG exceeds the statutory requirements, exceeds reasonable access, and is unnecessary for the examination provided by S. C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(c),

II

The United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution protect citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures⁴⁴ and self-incrimination⁴⁵ and require due process of law.⁴⁶ The South Carolina Constitution goes further protecting against “unreasonable invasions of privacy.”⁴⁷

Here there was no evidence, testimony, or exhibit to support the trial court’s ruling nor did the trial court address the Constitutional and due process issues. This reduces this issue to a question of law regarding searches and seizures, self-incrimination, due process of law, and the right to privacy.

If The State wished to search Mr. Tyler or his premises for sex toys, dildos, vibrators, or pornography, the state and federal constitutions require a search warrant. Here The State wishes to go further with less protection—it wishes to search Mr. Tyler’s innermost thoughts⁴⁸ and fantasies with a penile plethysmograph, a tool found unacceptable by many

⁴⁴*United States Constitution, Amendment IV*: “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.” Also, *South Carolina Constitution, Article I, § 10*.

⁴⁵*United States Constitution, Amendment V*: “No person ...shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself,” Also, *South Carolina Constitution, Article 1, § 12*.

⁴⁶*United States Constitution, Amendment XIV*: “No State shall ... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law”. Also, *South Carolina Constitution, Article I, § 3*.

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