STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 24 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Darlington County  
The Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001442

---

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of  
Larry James Tyler,

Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

The Court reasoned that the “[g]overnment's interest in regulating the conduct of railroad employees to ensure safety, like its supervision of probationers or regulated industries, or its operation of a government office, school, or prison, “likewise presents ‘special needs’ beyond normal law enforcement that may justify departures from the usual warrant and probable-cause requirements.” *Id.* (quoting Griffin v. Wisconsin, 483 U.S. 868, 873 [1987]). Further, the Court concluded the toxicological testing contemplated by the regulations was not an undue infringement on the covered employee's justifiable expectations of privacy because the Government's compelling safety interests outweigh privacy concerns. *Id.* 489 U.S. at 633.

Like the railroad regulations in Skinner, the government interest underlying the SVPA is to protect the public from a dangerous subclass of sexual offenders, which is a compelling interest.

The SVPA expressly states:

The General Assembly finds that a mentally abnormal and extremely dangerous group of sexually violent predators exists who require involuntary civil commitment in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment. The General Assembly further finds that the likelihood these sexually violent predators will engage in repeated acts of sexual violence if not treated for their mental conditions is significant.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-20. A person's dangerous propensities to commit future acts of sexual violence are the focus of the SVP Act. Corley, *supra*.

Here, the expressed, compelling interest of the state is protecting its citizens from sexually violent predators. The statute is narrowly tailored to a small subset of dangerous sexual offenders; not all sexual offenders are subjected to the SVPA. Rather, it is limited to those offenders who are likely to reoffend. Whether the offender is likely to reoffend is a significant element in determining whether the person is a sexually violent predator because the likelihood to reoffend is at the heart of the statute.

The State's interest must be balanced with the Appellant interests to be free of unreasonable searches. "To claim protection under the Fourth Amendment . . . [Appellant] must show that [he has] a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched." State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 112, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004) (citing Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143, 99 S.Ct. 421, 430, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978)). In Missouri, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that establishing a legitimate expectation of privacy requires a person show: (1) he or she had a subjective expectation of not being discovered, and (2) the expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable. *Id.* (citing Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984) (citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 361 (1967) [Harlan, J., concurring])).

Here, it can be argued Appellant has a subjective expectation his sexual desires will be private. The more important question is whether society is willing to recognize that expectation as

reasonable. Appellant plead guilty to indecency with a child (fondling) in 1993 in Texas, and after a sentence of 10 years, Appellant reoffended in 2013. Appellant plead guilty, in South Carolina, to multiple sexual crimes against minors. (See Petition filed October 15, 2015, with Exhibits; R., pp. 20-142). Appellant has shown a pattern of sexual offenses against children. He was reviewed by the MDT, the PRC, a circuit court judge, and a second judge at an adversarial probable cause hearing, all concluding there is probable cause to believe he is likely to reoffend against children. Under these circumstances, society is unwilling to recognize, as reasonable, Appellant's expectation of privacy to refuse testing to determine if he is likely to re-offend.

Therefore, the State's interest in protecting its citizens, especially children, by determining if a sexual offender is likely to reoffend outweighs the privacy interest the offender has in being subjected to physiological testing. Appellant is a convicted sexual offender who based on a multiple finding of probable cause he is likely to reoffend, has a reduced expectation of privacy, which is outweighed by the significant and clearly expressed State interest in protecting its citizens from an extremely dangerous group of sexual predators. Thus, the testing does not violate Appellant's Fourth Amendment rights, and the circuit court did not err in compelling Appellant to comply with the testing.

B. Compliance with testing deemed necessary by a qualified expert does not violate the Fifth Amendment because the SVPA is a civil, non-punitive scheme.

The Fifth Amendment clause against self-incrimination, which applies to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." Allen v. Illinois, 478 U.S. 364, 368 (1986). Further, the South Carolina Constitution provides: "[n]o person . . . shall . . . be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." S.C. Const. art.1 §12.

“The question whether a particular proceeding is criminal for the purposes of the Self-Incrimination Clause is first of all a question of statutory construction.” Allen, 478 U.S. at 368.. The South Carolina Supreme Court held the SVPA is a civil, non-punitive scheme, and is modeled after the Kansas SVPA. In re Matthews, 345 S.C. 638, 550 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2001). *See also*, Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997) (the statutory construction of the Kansas SVP creating a civil commitment scheme was not punitive in nature and did not render the proceeding thereunder criminal).

In Allen, the Petitioner challenged statements he made to psychiatrists during a compelled evaluation, arguing the use of those statements by the doctors during trial violated his Fifth Amendment right. The United States Supreme Court affirmed the Illinois Supreme Court’s holding that “the privilege against self-incrimination was not available in sexually-dangerous-person proceedings because they are “essentially civil in nature,” and the aim of the statute being to provide “treatment, not punishment.” Allen, 478 U.S. at 367–68.

The Illinois Supreme Court reasoned “the State's interest in treating, and protecting the public from, sexually dangerous persons would be “almost totally thwarted” by allowing those persons to refuse to answer questions posed in psychiatric interviews, and that the privilege would be “of minimal value in assuring reliability,” concluding “due process does not require the application of the privilege.” People v. Allen, 107 Ill. 2d 91, 481 N.E.2d 690, 696 (1985), aff'd sub nom. Allen, 478 U.S. at 367.

Here, allowing Appellant to refuse to cooperate with testing deemed necessary by a qualified expert as a part of a comprehensive evaluation to determine if he meets the statutory definition of a sexually violent predator, “thwarts” the entire purpose and expressed intent on the South Carolina Legislature. The SVPA is civil not criminal; Appellant faces the possibility of

confinement for treatment, not punishment; therefore, he cannot incriminate himself in future criminal proceedings. Further, the information gathered from the PPG is not testimonial, the Appellant is not asked any questions, like in a polygraph, that could incriminate him in future criminal proceedings. The information gathered would simply be used to determine Appellant's sexual arousal to various stimuli for purposes of determining if he has a suffers from a mental abnormality that makes him likely to commit future acts of sexual violence; not for purposes of future criminal proceedings. Thus, the compelled PPG testing does not violate the Appellant's right against self-incrimination, and therefore, the circuit court did not err in ordering Appellant to comply with Dr. Gottfried's evaluation.

C. Compliance with testing deemed necessary by a qualified expert does not violate the Fourteenth Amendment because the testing is rationally related to a compelling State interest.

The South Carolina Constitution incorporates a right to be free from unreasonable invasions of privacy. S.C. Const. art 1, § 10. The Fourteenth Amendment provides that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Substantive due process protects citizens against arbitrary or capricious action by the government regardless of the procedures used to carry out that action. In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338, 347 (2002). The Due Process Clause protects only “those fundamental rights and liberties which are, objectively, ‘deeply rooted in this Nation's history and tradition.’” State v. Dykes, 403 S.C. 499, 744 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2013) (quoting Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 720–21 [1997]). “Thus, courts must ‘ensure that legislation which deprives a person of a life, liberty, or property right have, at a minimum, a rational basis, and not be arbitrary . . . .’” *Id.* (quoting Luckabaugh, 568 S.E.2d at 346).

In Luckabaugh, the South Carolina Supreme Court held the SVPA complies with the substantive due process requirements of both the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. 568 S.E.2d at 350. The United States Supreme Court's decision in Kansas v Crane held "the substantive due process clause **requires a court to determine an individual suffers from a mental illness** which makes it seriously difficult, though not impossible, for that person to control his dangerous propensities." *Id.* at 348. (emphasis added).

The State's expressed interest in protecting its citizens from a narrow subclass of dangerous sexual offenders is rationally related to compelled physiological testing because the finding of a mental abnormality or personality disorder coupled with an offender's dangerous propensities is key to determining whether Appellant should be released or proceed to trial for involuntary civil commitment. Therefore, the Appellant's right to privacy is not infringed by the State's action in compelling him to undergo PPG testing deemed necessary by a qualified expert as a part of a comprehensive psychosexual evaluation to determine if Appellant suffers from a mental illness he has serious difficulty controlling if left untreated. The circuit court did not err in compelling Appellant to comply with the testing.

D. Appellant failed to preserve the issue that his constitutional rights to procedural due process in connection with the contempt determination were violated.

1. Preservation

The State contends Appellant did not properly preserve this issue for the court. "If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." Caldwell v. Wiquist, 402 S.C. 565, 576, 741 S.E.2d 583, 589 (Ct. App. 2013) (*citing I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)). Constitutional

arguments are no exception to the preservation rules. *Id.* (citing Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 [2012]).

On October 31, 2016, the circuit court ordered Appellant held in contempt for violating a prior Order compelling him to cooperate with Dr. Gottfried's evaluation, including the PPG. The Order was supported by an affidavit from Dr. Gottfried, which documented Appellant's failure to cooperate. (Affidavit, Dr. Emily Gottfried, dated October 4, 2016; R. pp. 266). Subsequently, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment dated November 14, 2017; R., pp. 168-175). As grounds for his motion to alter or amend judgment, Appellant stated compelling him to submit to PPG testing: 1) violates his substantive due process rights; 2) the PPG is an unreasonable search and seizure; 3) it violates his right to privacy; and 4) it violates his right against self-incrimination. On its face, the motion does not claim the contempt order violated Appellant's procedural due process rights. (Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment dated November 14, 2017; R., pp. 168-175). Thus, Appellant failed to properly preserve this issue for the court's review.

2. Even if the appellate court finds that the issue was properly preserved, the Appellant's procedural due process rights were not violated.

"The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review." State v. Binnarr, 400 S.C. 156, 733 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2012) (quoting Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n, 376 S.C. 165, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 [2008]).

Here, Appellant's procedural due process rights were not violated because he had notice that failure to cooperate with Dr. Gottfried's evaluation would constitute contempt of court. After a full hearing on the matter, the circuit court judge held "in abeyance any ruling as to whether [Appellant] should be held in contempt, in order to give him time to cooperate with Dr. Gottfried's

evaluation.” (Order filed September 23, 2016; R., pp. 11-14). Appellant also had notice of what would happen if he failed to cooperate. The circuit court ordered “if [Appellant] fails to cooperate with that evaluation, and an affidavit is provided to the court, [Appellant] will then be held in contempt. . . .” (Order filed September 23, 2016; R., pp. 11-14).

Further, when Appellant was transported to SBCL on September 29, 2016 to complete the PPG test, he refused. Significantly, Appellant consulted with counsel via telephone after refusing to cooperate, and after consultation, still refused to cooperate. (Gottfried Affidavit, ¶¶ 4, 5; R.p. 266).

Appellant had notice and opportunity to be heard in connection with the contempt determination. Appellant’s procedural due process rights were not violated because he was vigorously represented by competent counsel, and there were multiple hearings during which Appellant had the opportunity to present evidence and legal arguments; therefore Appellant’s procedural due process rights were not violated, and the circuit court did not err in holding Appellant in contempt based on his continued refusal to comply with Dr. Gottfried’s evaluation.

**III. The circuit court only compelled Appellant to cooperate with the PPG deemed necessary by the State’s mental health expert, expressly declining to rule on the issue of the admissibility of PPG evidence at trial, and therefore, that issue is not properly before the appellate court.**

The State contends the admissibility of the PPG evidence is not properly before this appellate court because the issue is not ripe. The SVP proceedings have yet to reach the civil commitment trial, where admissibility of evidence would be properly addressed.

A. The issue of admissibility is not ripe because the SVP proceedings have not reached the point of a civil commitment trial.

The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. Hartfield v. Getaway Lounge & Grill, Inc., 388 S.C. 407, 697 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2010). Further, “[a] justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a **contingent**, hypothetical or abstract character.” Holden v. Cribb, 349 S.C. 132, 561 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 2002) (*quoting* Byrd v. Irmo High Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 [1996]) (emphasis added).

Here, this matter has yet to reach the civil commitment stage. The circuit court properly noted “much of the attack by [Appellant] on the PPG relates to its admissibility at trial, and the posture of these proceedings is that they are not yet at that point.” (Order Filed September 23, 2016; R. pp. 11-14). Currently, neither the State nor Appellant know what Dr. Gottfried’s evaluation will conclude or recommend. It is premature to discuss whether the PPG is admissible as evidence in a civil commitment trial, when it is unknown whether there even will be a civil commitment trial. There is no real controversy requiring judicial determination; thus, the issue is not ripe, and the admissibility of the PPG as evidence should be addressed by the trial judge, if and when a civil commitment trial is appropriately scheduled.

B. The circuit court expressly declined to rule on PPG admissibility; however, even if this court determines the issue is properly before the appellate court, the PPG is admissible as evidence in a civil commitment trial.

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